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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011

OR

00 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 000-49802

Netflix, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 77-0467272
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

100 Winchester Circle, Los Gatos, California 95032

(Address and zip code of principal executive offic®

(408) 540-3700

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ¢ filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wegjuired to file such reports) and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsHe past 90 days. YEXI NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of thiapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such file¥)es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @maccelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See definitions of “large acaled filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller repinog company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Brdge Act). YesO No

As of September 30, 2011, there were 52,504,099 st the registrant’'s common stock, par valu@@D, outstanding.
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Revenues
Cost of revenues
Subscriptior
Fulfillment expense
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expense
Technology and developme
Marketing
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Operating incom:
Other income (expense
Interest expens
Interest and other incon
Income before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Net income per shar
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic
Diluted

NETFLIX, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C
2011 2010 2011 2010
$ 821,83 $ 553,21 $2,329,00: $1,566,70:
471,82. 292,40t 1,277,01 817,35:
64,794 52,06: 187,72¢ 149,21:
536,61 344,46 1,464,741 966,56
285,22: 208,75( 864,25t 600,13¢
69,48( 42,10¢ 178,25( 117,37(
89,10¢ 81,23¢ 288,35( 230,99(
29,79: 15,90: 83,46( 46,59(
188,38 139,24 550,06( 394,95(
96,84: 69,50: 314,19¢ 205,18t
(4,915 (4,945) (15,087 (14,79
1,69¢ 853 3,574 2,74¢
93,62: 65,40¢ 302,68 193,13°
31,167 27,44 111,78( 79,37¢
$  62,46( $ 37,96 $ 190,90° $ 113,75t
$ 1.1¢€ $ 0.7: $ 3.6 $ Y
$ 1.1¢ $ 0.7C $ 3.5 $ 2.0¢
52,56¢ 52,14: 52,59¢ 52,51(
53,87( 53,93! 54,00¢ 54,34

2

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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NETFLIX, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and par value data)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Current content library, ni
Prepaid conter
Other current asse
Total current asse
Content library, ne
Property and equipment, r
Deferred tax asse
Other nol-current assel

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Current portion of lease financing obligatic

Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease financing obligations, excluding current jpor
Other nor-current liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 160,000,000 slardg®rized at September 30, 2011 and
December 31, 2010; 52,504,091 and 52,781,949 issuedutstanding at September 30, 2011 a
December 31, 2010, respectivi

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income,

Retained earning

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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As of
September 3C December 31

2011 2010

$ 159,19¢ $ 194,49¢

206,57¢ 155,88t
705,39¢ 181,00¢
77,14¢ 62,21%
41,79 43,62
1,190,11 637,23:
570,21( 180,97:
143,99: 128,57(
28,74: 17,467
28,49¢ 17,82¢

$1,961,55! $ 982,06°

$ 750,10° $ 222,82

54,67 36,48
2,25¢ 2,08:
160,92 127,18
967,96 388,57
200,001 200,001
32,40( 34,12
372,84( 69,20
1,573,201 691,90
53 53

— 51,62
58¢ 75¢
387,71 237,73
388,35: 290,16

$1,961,55! $ 982,06°
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NETFLIX, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by
operating activities
Additions to streaming content libra
Change in streaming content liabiliti
Amortization of streaming content libra
Amortization of DVD content librar
Depreciation and amortization of property, equiptaerd
intangibles
Stocl-based compensation expel
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Other nor-cash item:
Deferred taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Prepaid conter
Other current asse
Other accounts payak
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Other nor-current assets and liabiliti
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of DVD content libran
Purchases of shterm investment
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment
Proceeds from maturities of st-term investment
Purchases of property and equipm
Other asset
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments of lease financing obligati
Proceeds from issuance of common sl
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Repurchases of common stc
Net cash used in financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 3C September 3C September 3C
September 30

2011 2010 2011 2010
$ 62,46( $ 37,967 $ 190,90 $ 113,75t
(539,28 (115,149 (1,344,18) (231,78)
314,72( 58,63¢ 816,62( 88,19;
187,44¢ 44,56¢ 417,84¢ 93,09:
23,00( 32,57¢ 73,99( 111,49(
11,91 8,67¢ 31,92: 28,84¢
15,70¢ 7,29¢ 43,50t 19,72¢
(11,767 (16,097 (45,287 (34,699
(1,745 (1,759 (3,472 (7,819
(5,28 3,19¢ (14,190 (2,96
(17,339 (25,48%) (14,929 (32,58)
(8,57%) (3,372 4,93¢ (12,03
(5,422) (10,91/) 4,94¢ 1,24¢
20,92( 18,00: 61,53: 39,66¢
13,99: 1,567 33,74¢ 2,88¢
(11,21¢) 2,501 (5,64¢) 2,64¢
49,53: 42,22 252,24t 179,68
(20,826 (29,900 (62,010 (90,999
(7,679 (15,379 (100,53f) (73,169
37 42,23¢ 31,50¢ 105,06
1,80¢ 1,99¢ 18,44( 10,31¢
(14,08() (7,347 (39,02¢) (19,406
(844) 2,782 1,41¢ 10,28¢
(41,58)) (5,606 (150,20%) (57,899
(52€) (470 (1,547) (1,29¢)
4,40¢ 10,92] 18,58¢ 33,954
11,76: 16,09: 45,28: 34,69¢
(39,607) (57,390) (199,666 (210,259
(23,95¢) (30,84() (137,34) (142,90;)
(16,009) 5,781 (35,300 (21,116
175,20 107,32 194,49¢ 134,22
$ 159,19¢ $ 113,10t $ 159,19¢ $ 113,10t

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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NETFLIX, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significariccounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated interim financialesteents of Netflix, Inc. and its wholly owned sudiaries (the “Company”) have
been prepared in conformity with accounting pritespgenerally accepted in the United States (“\).& are consistent in all material
respects with those applied in the Company’s AniRegort on Form 1@ for the year ended December 31, 2010 filed with $ecurities an
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 18120he preparation of consolidated financial staets in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAARuires management to make estimates and judgthmanisffect the amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements and acconipgmptes. Significant items subject to such edtdmand assumptions include the
amortization methodology of the Company’s contéaraty, the valuation of stock-based compensatihthe recognition and measurement
of income tax assets and liabilities. The Compaaseb its estimates on historical experience andnaus other assumptions that the
Company believes to be reasonable under the citamoes. The actual results experienced by the Coynpay differ from management’s
estimates.

The interim financial information is unaudited, laflects all normal recurring adjustments that arehe opinion of management,
necessary to fairly present the information setfberein. The interim financial statements shduddead in conjunction with the audited
financial statements and related notes includédérCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tharyended December 31, 2010. Interim
results are not necessarily indicative of the tsdor a full year.

The Company is organized into two operating segsmémmestic (the United States) and Internatic®aé Note 10 for further
information about the Company’s operating segments.

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiesbnform to current period presentation. Thestassifications did not impact total
assets, total liabilities, stockholders’ equitysults of operations or cash flows.

There have been no material changes in the Compaignificant accounting policies as compared ¢osilgnificant accounting policies
described in the Company’s Annual Report on ForaKZ0r the year ended December 31, 2010.

2. Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed using thghtexl-average number of outstanding shares of aamstock during the period.
Diluted net income per share is computed usingvitighted-average number of outstanding sharesrofraan stock and, when dilutive,
potential common shares outstanding during theodeRotential common shares consist of incremahiales issuable upon the assumed
exercise of stock options, and for 2010, sharesvikee purchasable pursuant to the Company’s ereplsyock purchase plan (*‘ESPP”) using
the treasury stock method. The Company’s ESPP uwsgesded in 2011 and there were no offerings il 20fhke computation of net income
per share is as follows:

Three months ended Nine months ended
September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C
2011 2010 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share data)
Basic earnings per shal
Net income $ 62,46( $ 37,96 $ 190,90° $ 113,75¢
Shares used in computatic
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding 52,56¢ 52,14 52,59¢ 52,51(

Basic earnings per she $ 1.1¢ $ 0.72 $ 3.68 $ 2.17
Diluted earnings per shar

Net income $ 62,46( $ 37,96 $ 190,90° $ 113,75¢

Shares used in computatic
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding 52,56¢ 52,14 52,59¢ 52,51(
Employee stock options and employee
stock purchase plan shai 1,301 1,78¢ 1,40¢ 1,831
Weightec-average number of shar 53,87( 53,93: 54,00¢ 54,34
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.1¢€ $ 0.7¢ $ 3.5¢ $ 2.0¢
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Employee stock options with exercise prices gretti@n the average market price of the common slacikg the period were excluded
from the diluted calculation as their inclusion Wbhave been anti-dilutive. The number of optiorsleded for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2011 were 188,609 and 75@&a%atively. The number of options excluded forttliee and nine months ended
September 30, 2010 was immaterial.

3. Short-Term Investments and Fair Value Measuremein

The Company’s investment policy is consistent wlith definition of available-for-sale securities.ef@Gompany does not buy and hold
securities principally for the purpose of sellilgn in the near future. The Company’s policy isu&ed on the preservation of capital,
liquidity and return. From time to time, the Companay sell certain securities but the objectivesganerally not to generate profits on short-
term differences in price. The following table suarimes, by major security type, our assets thatrezasured at fair value on a recurring k
and are categorized using the fair value hierarchy:

September 30, 2011

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Cash $157,22¢ $ — $ — $157,22¢
Level 1 securities (1
Money market fund 6,532 — — 6,532
Level 2 securities (3
Corporate debt securiti 116,56 743 ()} 117,14:
Government and agency securit 87,66 74C — 88,40:
Asset and mortga-backed securitie 97C 59 — 1,02¢
$368,96. $ 1,547 $ (A7) $370,33:
Less: Lon-term restricted cash (. (4,5672)
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $365,77.
December 31, 2010
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Cash $194,14¢ $ — $ — $194,14¢
Level 1 securities (2
Money market fund 4,91¢ — — 4,91¢
Level 2 securities (3
Corporate debt securitit 109,74! 1,04: (207) 110,68
Government and agency securit 42,06: 331 (107) 42,29:
Asset and mortga-backed securitie 2,881 16¢€ (140 2,90¢
$353,74! $ 1,547 $ (342 354,94
Less: Lon-term restricted cash (; (4,567
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $350,38°

(1) Includes $2.0 million that is included in casid cash equivalents and $4.6 million of long-teestricted cash that is included in other
nor-current assets related to workers compensationsitef

(2) Includes $0.4 million that is included in casid cash equivalents and $4.6 million of long-teestricted cash that is included in other
nor-current assets related to workers compensationsiter

(3) Included in sho-term investments

Fair value is a market-based measurement thatdheutletermined based on the assumptions that trpakeipants would use in
pricing an asset or liability. The hierarchy leasbkigned to each security in the Company’s avaiin-sale portfolio and cash equivalents is
based on its assessment of the transparency aalilisl of the inputs used in the valuation of Bunstrument at the measurement date. The
fair value of available-for-sale securities andhcaquivalents included in the Level 1 categoryasea on quoted prices that are readily and
regularly available in an active market. The failue of available-for-sale securities includedhe Level 2 category is based on observable
inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assedtseammeasurement date; quoted prices in marketsutbanot active; or other inputs that are
observable, either directly or indirectly. Theséuea were obtained from an independent pricingiserand were evaluated using pricing
models that vary by asset class and may incorpasei#able trade, bid and other market informatiod price quotes from well-established
independent pricing vendors and broker-dealers.pbagedures include controls to ensure that apatepfair values are recorded such as
comparing prices obtained from multiple independenirces. See Note 4 for further information regaydhe fair value of the Company’s
8.50% senior notes.



Table of Contents

Because the Company does not intend to sell tresstments that are in an unrealized loss positidritda not likely that the Company
will be required to sell any investments beforeokexry of their amortized cost basis, the Compargsdwt consider those investments wit|
unrealized loss to be other-than-temporarily imgamt September 30, 2011. There were no matehat-tlhan-temporary impairments or
credit losses related to available-for-sale seiesrin the three or nine months ended Septembe@a, and 2010. In addition, there were no
material gross realized gains or losses in thestbrenine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

The estimated fair value of short-term investmémtsontractual maturity as of September 30, 20Esifollows:

(in thousands’

Due within one year $ 96,05¢
Due after one year and through 5 ye 109,48t
Due after 5 years and through 10 ye —

Due after 10 year 1,02¢
Total shor-term investment $ 206,57:

4. Long-term Debt

As of September 30, 2011, the Company had $200l@mef longterm debt outstanding. The debt consists of $200ln aggregat
principal amount of 8.50% senior notes due NovenBeP017 (the “Notes”). Interest on the Notesaggble semi-annually at a rate of
8.50% per annum on May 15 and November 15 of eaah gommencing on May 15, 2010.

The Notes include, among other terms and conditiongations on the Company’s ability to createcur, assume or be liable for
indebtedness (other than specified types of pegthittdebtedness); dispose of assets outside tiaoyadourse (subject to specified
exceptions); acquire, merge or consolidate withntar another person or entity (other than specifjgbs of permitted acquisitions); create,
incur or allow any lien on any of its property @sagn any right to receive income (except for spetipermitted liens); make investments
(other than specified types of investments); or ghaidends, make distributions, or purchase or eetl¢éhe Company’s equity interests (each
subject to specified exceptions). At Septembe28Q,1 and December 31, 2010, the Company was in lamap with these covenants.

Based on quoted market prices, the fair value @Nhbtes as of September 30, 2011 and Decembe03Q,as approximately $216.5
million and $225.0 million, respectively.

5. Balance Sheet Components
Content Library, Net
Content library and accumulated amortization arfobews:

As of
September 3C December 31
2011 2010
(in thousands)
Streaming content library, gro $1,629,09 $ 441,63
DVD content library, gros 604,13¢ 627,39.
Content library, gros 2,233,23 1,069,02!
Less: accumulated amortizati (957,62) (707,05()
Total content library, ne 1,275,60:i 361,97¢
Less: Current content library, r 705,39¢ 181,00t
Content library, ne $ 570,21( $ 180,97.
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment and accumulated depreciat®as follows:

September 3C

December 31

2011 2010
(in thousands)
Computer equipmet 3 year $ 68,90 $ 60,28¢
Operations and other equipme 5 year 100,26 72,36¢
Software, including intern-use softwart 3 year 36,01: 26,96
Furniture and fixture 3 year 14,36: 11,43¢
Building 30 year 40,68: 40,68:
Leasehold improvemen Over life of leas 41,02° 36,53(
Capital worl-in-progress 4,09t 16,88
Property and equipment, grc 305,34! 265,14¢
Less: accumulated depreciati (161,35 (136,579
Property and equipment, r $ 143,99 $ 128,57
Accounts Payable and Other Non-Current Liabilities
Accounts payable consisted of the following:
As of
September 3C December 31
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Streaming conter $ 653,59: $ 136,97-

Other 96,51¢ 85,85(

Accounts payabl $ 750,10° $ 222,82:

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the daling:
As of

September 3C December 31

2011 2010
(in thousands)
Streaming conter $ 348,18: $ 48,17¢
Other 24,65¢ 21,02:
Other noi-current liabilities $ 372,84 $ 69,20:

The Company typically enters into multi-year licessvith studios and other distributors that mayltés an increase in content library
and a corresponding increase in accounts payablether non-current liabilities. The payment teffiorsthese license fees may extend over
the term of the license agreement, which typicallyge from six months to five years. As of Septen3e 2011, streaming content accounts
payable and non-current streaming content liabdlithcreased $516.6 million and $300.0 millionpessively, as compared to December 31,
2010, due to the $1,344.2 million in additionshe streaming content library.

6. Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income was $62.2 million and $38/#amifor the three months ended September 30, 20112010, respectively.
Comprehensive income was $190.7 million and $1idliBon for the nine months ended September 30,1241d 2010, respectively. The
difference between net income as reported and camepsive income is unrealized gains and lossesaitable-for-sale securities, net of tax.

8
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7. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Repurchases

Under the Company'’s current stock repurchase plangunced on June 11, 2010, the Company is augltbtazrepurchase up to $300.0
million of its common stock through the end of 20D2ring the three months ended September 30, 28&XCompany repurchased 182,000
shares at an average price of $218 per share faggregate amount of $39.6 million. During the mmenths ended September 30, 2011, the
Company repurchased 899,847 shares at an aveliageop$222 per share for an aggregate amount @®.$1million. As of September 30,
2011, $41.0 million of this authorization is remamn The timing and actual number of shares remaseti is at management’s discretion and
will depend on various factors including price, marate and regulatory requirements, debt covemaptirements, alternative investment
opportunities and other market conditions.

Shares repurchased by the Company are accountedhéor the transaction is settled. As of SeptembeR@11, there were no unsettled
share repurchases. Shares repurchased and regrdddaucted from common stock for par value andhfadlditional paid-in capital for the
excess over par value. If additional paid- in cgias been exhausted, the excess over par valeeusted from retained earnings. Direct
costs incurred to acquire the shares are inclutdéuki total cost of the shares. For the three amelmonths ended September 30, 2011, $7.8
million and $40.9 million, respectively, were detkea:from retained earnings related to share repseh

Stock-Based Compensation
A summary of the activity related to the Comparstteck option plans during the nine months endede®dper 30, 2011 is as follows:

Options Outstanding VXeighted-
verage
Remaining Aggregate
Shares Weighted- Contractual Term Intrinsic Value
Available Number of Average
for Grant Shares Exercise Price (in Years) (in Thousands'
Balances as of December 31, 2010 2,038,50: 2,892,13i $ 36.11
Grantec (341,479 341,47: 234.67
Exercisec — (621,989 29.8¢
Balances as of September 30, 2 1,697,02 2,611,61 63.5¢ 5.9t $ 176,15:
Vested and exercisable at September 30, 2,611,61! 63.5¢ 5.9t $ 176,15:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pretax intrinsic value (theeddhce between the Company’s closing
stock price on the last trading day of the thirdjer of 2011 and the exercise price, multipliedh®ynumber of in-the-money options) that
would have been received by the option holdersatiamption holders exercised their options on Sayer 30, 2011. This amount changes
based on the fair market value of the Company’smmomstock. Total intrinsic value of options exeeddor the three months ended
September 30, 2011 and 2010 was $32.2 million @4d8$million, respectively. Total intrinsic valuéaptions exercised for the nine months
ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 was $125.6 mélfid $100.7 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the assumptions teedlue stock option grants using the latticeshial model:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 3C September 3C September 30 September 30
2011 2010 2011 2010
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 52% 54% 51-52% 46-54%
Risk-free interest rat 2.98% 2.97% 2.9€-3.42% 2.97-3.67%
Suboptimal exercise fact: 2.2€¢-3.63 2.0¢-2.40 2.11-3.63 1.7¢-2.40

In the nine months ended September 30, 2011, thep@oy used a suboptimal exercise factor ranging 889 to 3.63 for executives
and 2.17 to 2.26, respectively for non-executivesulting in a calculated expected life of the optjrants of eight years for executives and
five years for norexecutives. In the nine months ended Septembe&r@@, the Company used a suboptimal exercise feantging from 2.1
to 2.40 for executives and 1.78 to 2.00 for noneesiges, resulting in a calculated expected liféhef option grants of five years for
executives and four years for non-executives.

The weighted-average fair value of employee stqtloas granted during the three months ended Sdyete®0, 2011 and 2010 was
$137.90 and $56.55 per share, respectively. Thghtesil-average fair value of employee stock optgmasited during the nine months ended
September 30, 2011 and 2010 was $127.41 and $p6r%hare, respectively.

9
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The following table summarizes the assumptions tsedlue employee stock purchase rights for tifieriolg period commencing in
May 2010, using the Black Scholes option pricingdeloThere were no ESPP offerings in 2011, andCthpany does not expect any future
ESPP offerings.

Nine Months
Ended
September
30, 2010
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 45%
Risk-free interest rat 0.24%
Expected life (in years 0.t

Cash received from the issuance of common stocththree months ended September 30, 2011 andv2@d 4.4 million and $10.9
million, respectively. Cash received from the issz@of common stock for the nine months ended &dme 30, 2011 and 2010 was $18.6
million and $34.0 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes stock-based comp@rsaxpense, net of tax, related to stock optiampand employee stock
purchases for the three and nine months endedr8kete30, 2011 and 2010 which was allocated asviistlo

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2011 2010 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Fulfillment expenst $ 20¢€ $ 328 $ 1,44¢ $ 80¢€
Technology and developme 7,522 2,69¢ 19,81¢ 6,93¢
Marketing 1,53¢ 777 4,27: 2,17¢
General and administrati\ 6,43¢ 3,50z 17,965 9,80¢
Stocl-based compensation expense before income 15,70¢ 7,29¢ 43,50¢ 19,72¢
Income tax benef (5,228 (3,069 (16,06¢) (8,119
Total stocl-based compensation after income te $ 10,47: $ 423:. % 27,43¢ $ 11,60¢

8. Income Taxes

The effective tax rates for the three months erkgutember 30, 2011 and 2010 were 33.3% and 42&3fectively. The effective tax
rates for the nine months ended September 30, 204 2010 were 36.9% and 41.1%, respectively. A3emfember 31, 2010, the Company
had $20.7 million of gross unrecognized tax beseBuring the nine months ended September 30, 2b&XCompany had an increase in
gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximatel$ $aillion. The gross unrecognized tax benefitsedognized by the Company, will result
in a reduction of approximately $21.0 million teetprovision for income taxes thereby favorably ictpay the Company’s effective tax rate.
The Company’s unrecognized tax benefits are clagsifs “Other non-current liabilities” in the colidated balance sheet. Income tax
benefits attributable to the exercise of employteeksoptions of $11.6 million and $16.1million, éthg the three month period ended
September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, werrded directly to additional paid-in capital. Incertax benefits attributable to the exercise
of employee stock options of $45.0 million and $34hillion, during the nine month period ended Seiter 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively,
were recorded directly to additional paid-in calpita

The Company includes interest and penalties relatetrecognized tax benefits within the provisionincome taxes. As of
September 30, 2011, the total amount of grossastemd penalties accrued was $1.8 million, wisatlassified as “Other non-current
liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company files U.S. federal and state tax retuFhe Company is currently under examination leylRS for the years 2008 and
2009, and the year 2010 remains subject to exaimimhy the IRS. The statute of limitations for y2a097 through 2007 expired in
September 2011 which resulted in a discrete beokéipproximately $3.5 million in the three mon#éreled September 30, 2011. The
Company is currently under examination by the st@alifornia for the years 2006 and 2007. Thergd®97 through 2005, as well as 2008
through 2010, remain subject to examination bystage of California.

Given the potential outcome of the current exanmmat it is reasonably possible that the balanagnoécognized tax benefits could
significantly change within the next twelve montHgwever, at this time, an estimate of the rangeea$onably possible adjustments to the
balance of unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made
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9. Commitments and Contingencies
Streaming Content

The Company had $3,458.9 million and $1,123.4 arillof obligations at September 30, 2011 and DeceBihe2010, respectively,
including agreements to acquire and license stmgueontent that represent long-term liabilitiestat are not reflected on the consolidated
balance sheets because they do not meet contenyldisset recognition criteria. The license agergmdo not meet content library asset
recognition criteria because either the fee isknatvn or reasonably determinable for a specifie it it is known but the title is not yet
available for streaming to subscribers. For thageements with variable terms, the Company doesstohate what the total obligation may
be beyond any minimum quantities and/ or pricingfabe reporting date. For those agreements tticdtde renewal provisions that are so
at the option of the content provider, the Compiaiudes the commitments associated with the rehperéod to the extent such
commitments are fixed or a minimum amount is spedif

The expected timing of payments as of Septembe2@D] for these commitments is as follows:

(in thousands’
Less than one year $ 740.¢
Due after one year and through 3 ye 2,136.¢
Due after 3 years and through 5 ye 535.7
Due after 5 year 45.5
Total streaming content obligatio $ 3,458.¢

The Company has entered into certain license agmetsnthat include an unspecified or a maximum nurobétles that the Company
may or may not receive in the future and /or thalude pricing contingent upon certain variableshsas theatrical exhibition receipts for the
title. As of the reporting date, it is unknown wiet the Company will receive access to these ftittaghat the ultimate price per title will be.
Accordingly, such amounts are not reflected indbmitments described above. However such amoargsgxpected to be significant and
the expected timing of payments could range frass than one year to more than five years.

In addition to the streaming content obligationee) the Company has licenses with certain perfogmights organizations (“PRO”),
and is currently involved in negotiations with atfROs, that hold certain rights to music usedimnection with streaming content. For the
latter, the Company accrues for estimated royatkiasare due to PROs and adjusts these accrusgs o any changes in estimates. While
the Company anticipates finalizing these negotiatidhe outcome of these negotiations is uncerfalditionally, pending litigation between
certain PROs and other third parties could impact@gotiations. If the Company is unable to reacitually acceptable terms with the
PROs, the Company could become involved in sinfitigation. The results of any negotiation or laigpn may be materially different from
management’s estimates.

Litigation

From time to time, in the normal course of its @iens, the Company is a party to litigation matt@nd claims, including claims
relating to employee relations, business practicespatent infringement. Litigation can be expeasiad disruptive to normal business
operations. Moreover, the results of complex lggateedings are difficult to predict and the Conmypsmiew of these matters may change in
the future as the litigation and events relatedetoeunfold. The Company expenses legal fees asrignt. The Company records a provision
for contingent losses when it is both probable ¢ghéability has been incurred and the amount eflttss can be reasonably estimated. An
unfavorable outcome to any legal matter, if matecauld have an adverse effect on the Companyesaijons or its financial position,
liquidity or results of operations.

On March 29, 2010, Parallel Networks, LLC filedarplaint for patent infringement against the Conypand others in the United
States District Court for the Eastern District @x@s, captioneBarallel Networks, LLC v. Abercrombie & Fitch Co., et. al , Civil Action No
6:10-cv-00111-LED. The complaint alleges that tlmmpany infringed U.S. Patent No. 6,446,111 entitMdthod and Apparatus for Client-
Server Communication Using a Limited Capabilitye@dli Over a Low-Speed Communication Link,” issuedseptember 3, 2002. The
complaint seeks unspecified compensatory and eelademages, interest and fees, and seeks to pertlyam@oin the Company from
infringing the patent in the future. With respexthis matter, management has determined thatem{@itloss is not probable and accordin
no amount has been accrued. Management has deteranjpotential loss is reasonably possible adifimed by the Financial Accounting
Standard Board’s Accounting Standards Codificaffé«6C”) 450 Contingencies ; however, based on its current knowledge, manageme
does not believe that the amount of such possiiske dr a range of potential loss is reasonablynesiie.

On September 25, 2009, Alcatel-Lucent USA Incdfitlecomplaint for patent infringement against tleen@any in the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of TexaaptionedAlcatel-Lucent USA Inc. v. Amazon.com Inc., et. al, Civil Action No. 6:09-cv-422.
The complaint alleges that the Company infringe8.Patents Nos. 5,649,131 entitled “Communicatirgocol” issued on July 15, 1997;
5,623,656 entitled “Script Based Data Communica8gatem and Method Utilizing State Memory” issuedfril 22, 1997; and 5,404,507
entitled “Apparatus and Method for Finding Recarda Database by Formulating a Query Using Equitalerms Which Correspond to
Terms in the Input Query,” issued April 4, 1995 eT¢omplaint sought unspecified compensatory andmsed damages, interest, costs and
fees, and sought to permanently enjoin the Comframy infringing the patents in the future. On Sepber 21, 2011, this case was dismissed
with prejudice.
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In January through April of 2009, a number of putpd anti-trust class action suits were filed agathe Company in various United
States Federal Courts. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. anthmafd.com USA LLC (collectively, Wal-Mart) were alsiamed as defendants in these
suits. These cases have been consolidated in thkeyo District of California and have been assthtie multidistrict litigation number
MDL-2029. A number of substantially similar suitere filed in California State Courts, and have be@msolidated in Santa Clara County.
The plaintiffs, who are current or former Netfliustomers, generally allege that Netflix and Wal-Mantered into an agreement to divide the
markets for sales and online rentals of DVDs inUiméted States, which resulted in higher Netflibscription prices. A number of other ca
have been filed in Federal and State courts byeatior former subscribers to the online DVD restalice offered by Blockbuster Inc.,
alleging injury arising from similar facts. Theseses have been related to MDL 2029 or, in the cbee California State cases, coordinated
with the cases in Santa Clara County. The comgiiseeks unspecified compensatory and enhanceag#asminterest, costs and fees and
other equitable relief. With respect to each obthmatters, management has determined that a jabtess is not probable and accordingly,
no amount has been accrued. Management has deteranjpotential loss is reasonably possible adifimed by ASC 450; however, based
on its current knowledge, management does notveetteat the amount of such possible loss or a rahgetential loss is reasonably
estimable.

On October 24, 2008, Media Queue, LLC filed a caimtlfor patent infringement against the CompanthaUnited States District
Court for the Eastern District of Oklahoma, captidMedia Queue, LLC v. Netflix, Inc., et. al , Civil Action No. CIV 08-402-KEW. The
complaint alleges that the Company infringed U &eRt No. 7,389,243 entitled “Notification Systenddethod for Media Queue” issued
on June 17, 2008. The complaint seeks unspecifietpensatory and enhanced damages, interest anéiekseeks to permanently enjoin
Company from infringing the patent in the futuren Bebruary 24, 2009, the case was transferrecetdltinthern District of California. On
December 1, 2009, the Court granted the Compangttomfor summary judgment of non-infringement. Bebruary 10, 2010, plaintiff
appealed the summary judgment ruling. With resfettiis matter, management has determined thatemi@l loss is not probable and
accordingly, no amount has been accrued. Managemasrdetermined a potential loss is reasonablyiljesss it is defined by ASC 450;
however, based on its current knowledge, manageduss not believe that the amount of such poskibkor a range of potential loss is
reasonably estimable.

The Company is involved in other litigation mattar listed above but does not consider the matibeloe material either individually
in the aggregate at this time. The Company’s viéthe matters not listed may change in the futréha litigation and events related thereto
unfold.

Indemnification

In the ordinary course of business, the Companyehtered into contractual arrangements under whitdis agreed to provide
indemnification of varying scope and terms to besgpartners and other parties with respect tainartatters, including, but not limited to,
losses arising out of the Company’s breach of sugkements and out of intellectual property infeimgnt claims made by third parties.

The Company’s obligations under these agreemengdmémited in terms of time or amount, and in soimstances, the Company may
have recourse against third-parties for certaimpnts. In addition, the Company has entered irderimification agreements with its
directors and certain of its officers that will tég it, among other things, to indemnify them agaiertain liabilities that may arise by reason
of their status or service as directors or officé@itee terms of such obligations vary.

It is not possible to make a reasonable estimatieeninaximum potential amount of future paymen@eurthese or similar agreements
due to the conditional nature of the Company’sgdilons and the unique facts and circumstancedviestan each particular agreement. No
amount has been accrued in the accompanying fialsteitements with respect to these indemnificagigerantees.
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10. Segment Information

In September 2010, the Company began internatmperations by offering an unlimited streaming pldthout DVDs. At that time, th
Company began segmenting operating results betlearestic and International. The Company preserts#gment information along the
same lines that the Company’s chief operating d@timaker reviews the operating results in assggsénformance and allocating resources.
The Companys chief operating decision maker reviews revenukecamtribution profit for each of the reportablgs®nts. Contribution prof
is defined as revenues less cost of revenues arlcetimgy expenses. There are no internal revenuasdaiions between the Company’s
reporting segments. In addition, the Company de¢sdentify or allocate its assets by reportabignsent and all of the Company’s long lived
tangible assets are held in the United States.

The Domestic segment derives revenue from montidgaription services consisting of streaming conded DVD by mail. The
Domestic segment operating income (loss) includesdcosts and allocations of “Cost of Revenuewt ‘@arketing” as well as all
“Technology and Development” and “General and Adstiative” costs, as these costs are incurreddrithited States on the behalf of the
consolidated entity.

The International segment derives revenue from higisubscription services consisting solely of atnéeng content. The International
segment contribution profit (loss) includes direasts and allocations of “Cost of Revenues” andrikdtng.” Because no amount of
“Technology and Development or “General and Adntiatsve” costs are included in the Internationarsent, contribution profit (loss) is
equal to the International segment operating inc@ioes.)
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Information on reportable segments and reconalietd consolidated net income is as follows:

Domestic

Streaming subscriptior

DVD subscriptions

Total unique subscribers at end of pel

Revenue:
Cost of revenues and marketing exper

Contribution profit
Other operating expens

Segment operating incon

International
Total unique subscribers at end of pel

Revenue:
Cost of revenues and marketing exper

Contribution profit (loss

Consolidated
Total unique subscribers at end of pel

Revenue:
Cost of revenues and marketing exper

Contribution profit
Other operating expens

Operating incom:
Other income (expens
Provision for income taxe

Net income

14

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C

2011 2010 2011 2010
(in thousands)

21,44¢
13,92¢
23,78¢ 16,80(
799,15: $ 553,21 $2,275,141 $1,566,70.
579,72( 423,01: 1,655,82! 1,194,86.
219,43: 130,20¢ 619,31: 371,84
99,27: 58,01 261,71( 163,96(
120,16( $ 72,19 $ 357,60: $ 207,88
1,48(C 13z
22,68 $ — $ 53,86: $ —
46,00¢ 2,69/ 97,26¢ 2,694
(23319 $ (2699 $ (43400 $ (2,699
25,26¢ 16,93
821,83¢ $ 553,21 $2,329,00: $1,566,70.
625,72! 425,707 1,753,091 1,197,55!
196,11 127,51. 575,90¢ 369,14¢
99,27 58,01: 261,71( 163,96(
96,84: $ 69,50 $ 314,19¢ $ 205,18t
(3,219 (4,092) (11,509 (12,05))
31,16: 27,44: 111,78( 79,37¢
62,46( $ 37,96 $ 190,90 $ 113,75t
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Item 2. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwimaking statements within the meaning of the feflsecurities laws. These
forward-looking statements include, but are noftkh to statements regarding: our core stratedgriational expansion plans; our operating
result trends, including subscriber additions, reseand operating margins; impacts arising fromseuvice offering changes; liquidity; our
content library investments; future contractualigdtions; and tax accounting hese forward-looking statements are subject ks @sd
uncertainties that could cause actual results aedts to differ materially from those included onward-looking statements. Factors that
might cause or contribute to such differences ihejubut are not limited to, those discussed infourual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010 filed with the SecuritiesEExchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 18, 2@1 particular the risk factors
discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in Réem IA.

We assume no obligation to revise or publicly re¢eany revision to any forward-looking statemeptstained in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, unless required by law.

Overview

We are the world’s leading Internet subscriptiorviee for enjoying TV shows and movies. Our sulisers can instantly watch
unlimited TV shows and movies streamed over therhdt to their TVs, computers and mobile devicesiarthe United States, our
subscribers can receive standard definition DV, their high definition successor, Blu-ray discsliectively referred to as “DVD”)
delivered quickly to their homes.

Our core strategy is to grow our streaming subsoribusiness domestically and globally. We aretiooiously improving the customer
experience, with a focus on expanding our strearoémgent, enhancing our user interface and extgnolim streaming service to even more
Internet-connected devices, while staying withia prarameters of our contribution profit targetsthi@ past, we have focused on operating
margin targets. Going forward, we will be operatwithin the parameters of contribution profit taigyéor each of our operating segments.
Contribution profit is defined as revenue less afsevenues and marketing expenses.

We are a pioneer in the Internet delivery of TVw@h@nd movies, launching our streaming serviced®i72 Since this launch, we have
developed an ecosystem of Internet-connected dewite have licensed increasing amounts of corttahehable consumers to enjoy TV
shows and movies directly on their television setsnputers and mobile devices. As a result of tieéfeets, we have experienced growing
consumer acceptance of and interest in the delioETy shows and movies directly over the Interivge believe that the DVD portion of o
service will be a fading differentiator to our stneing success and that offering separate streaamaddVD by mail services will help us
prosper in streaming while allowing us to also keriecus on DVDs by mail.

In September 2010, we began international opemtigroffering an unlimited streaming plan withol!Ds in Canada. In September
2011, we expanded our international offering ofraited streaming without DVDs to Latin America atie Caribbean. We recently
announced plans to launch our service in the UKIgzidnd starting in Q1 of 2012. We anticipate #igant contribution losses in the
International segment in 2011 and 2012. After ldimg in the UK and Ireland, we will pause on opgnirew international markets.

In July 2011, we introduced DVD only plans and sefed the unlimited DVDs by mail and unlimited siméng into separate plans.
This resulted in a price increase for our membédrs were taking a combination of both our unlimi@dDs by mail and unlimited streaming
services. We made a subsequent announcement deiimgiarter concerning the rebranding of our DVDiajl service as Qwikster and the
separation of the Qwikster and Netflix websitese Tbhnsumer reaction to the price change, anddeset degree, the branding announcer
was very negative, leading to significant custorarcellations and a decline in gross subscribetiadd. We subsequently retracted our
plans to rebrand our DVD by mail service and sepate DVD by mail and streaming websites. If wendbreverse the negative consumer
sentiment toward our brand and if we continue foegience significant customer cancellations anddike in subscriber additions, our
results of operations including our cash flow Wil adversely impacted.

The following represents our consolidated perforoeamghlights for the three months ended Septei®®e2011, June 30, 2011 and
September 30, 2010 and for the nine months ende@®@ber 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010:

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs Q3’11 vs
June 30,
2011 2011 2010 Q2'11 3’10
(in thousands, except per share data and percentagje
Total subscribers at end of peri 25,26¢ 25,56 16,93: 1.1)% 49.2%
Net subscriber additior (292) 1,961 1,932 (114.9% (115.)%
Revenue:! $ 821,83¢ $788,61( $ 553,21¢ 4.2% 48.€%
Operating incom: 96,84: 115,11 69,50! (15.9% 39.2%
Net income 62,46( 68,21« 37,96 (8.9% 64.5%
Net income per sha— diluted $ 1.1¢ $ 1.2¢ $ 0.7¢C (7.9% 65.7%
Free cash flov $ 13,78: $ 59,54¢ $ 7,761 (76.9% 77.5%

Nine Months Ended Change




September 30 September 30 YTD ‘11 vs.

2011 2010 YTD ‘10

(in thousands, except per share data and percentagje
Total subscribers at end of peri 25,26¢ 16,93 49.2%
Net subscriber additior 5,25¢ 4,66¢ 12.7%
Revenue! $ 2,329,00; $ 1,566,70: 48.71%
Operating incom: 314,19¢ 205,18t 53.1%
Net income 190,90 113,75¢ 67.6%
Net income per sha— diluted $ 3.5¢ $ 2.0¢ 68.9%
Free cash flow (1 $ 152,62 $ 79,57 91.6%

(1) See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for aidigion of “free cash flow” and a reconciliation dfee cash flow” to “net cash provided
by operating activitie”

Following the announcement of changes to our pfferings, pricing, and branding in the third qua®&2011, domestic churn
increased to 6.3% for the third quarter of 201t@mpared to 4.2% in the second quarter of 201138 in the third quarter of 2010. This
coupled with a decline in domestic gross subsculolelitions of 11.3% from June 30, 2011 to SepterBbeR011 resulted in negative
domestic net subscriber additions of 0.8 milliorspite the loss in domestic subscribers in the tpirarter of 2011, our consolidated revel
were up 4.2% for the three months ended Septenth&(31 as compared to the three months ended3lyr2911, as most cancellations
occurred late in the quarter. Domestic gross siltescadditions were up 18.9% for the three montided September 30, 2011 as compar
the three months ended September 30, 2010, cotitiglto the increase in total subscribers of 498/6f September 30, 2011 as compare
September 30, 2010. This was the primary drivéh@48.6% increase in consolidated revenues fothttee months ended September 30,
2011 as compared to September 30, 2010.

We expect that as a result of the increase in sillescancellations and migration of our subscstiewards streaming only and lower
priced DVD plans, offset by increases in internagiarevenues, consolidated revenue will be relbtiftat until we can achieve positive net
subscriber additions.

In the third quarter, our International segmenbrégx a contribution loss of $23.3 million and wect that our planned expansion to
the UK and Ireland in the first quarter of 2012Iwasult in further losses as our investments inteot in particular will exceed revenues w
we grow our subscriber base. As a result of thecBlasolidated revenues and the increasing invegtmeur International segment, we
expect to incur consolidated net losses in 2012.
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Free cash flow in the third quarter of 2011 dealias compared to the prior quarter to $13.8 milbahincreased 77.4% as compared to
the same quarter in 2010. Free cash flow was $%8lion lower than net income of $62.5 million, ¢ealy due to the increase in excess
streaming and DVD content payments over expenggarticular, we invested significantly in conteat f.atin America and this content did
not become available for viewing until our launntSeptember. The excess streaming and DVD conégmignts over expense will continue
to fluctuate over time based on new streaming carigenses domestically and internationally. Wpent that free cash flow in 2012 will be
negatively impacted by our expected consolidatédasses and that we may use cash in future periods

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgaeted, the line items in our consolidated statésnafroperations as a percentage of
total revenues. The information contained in thmetdoelow should be read in conjunction with thasmidated financial statements, notes to
the consolidated financial statements and theaptof this Management’s Discussion and AnalysiBiofincial Condition and Results of
Operations.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 3C June 30 September 3C September 3C September 3C
2011 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenues 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of revenues

Subscriptior 57.2% 54.2% 52.%% 54.8% 52.2%

Fulfillment expense 7.% 7.8% 9.4% 8.1% 9.5%

Total cost of revenue 65.2% 62.1% 62.2% 62.%% 61.7%

Operating expense

Technology and developme 8.5% 7.3% 7.€% 7.1% 7.5%

Marketing 10.€% 12.(% 14.7% 12.4% 14.7%

General and administratiy 3.6% 4.0% 2.8% 3.5% 3.C%

Total operating expens 22.% 23.5% 25.1% 23.€% 25.2%

Operating incom: 11.8% 14.€% 12.€% 13.5% 13.1%
Other income (expense

Interest expens (0.6)% (0.9% (0.9% (0.6)% (0.9%

Interest and other incon 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
Income before income tax 11.2% 14.1% 11.% 13.(% 12.52%
Provision for income taxe 3.8% 5.5% 5.C% 4.8% 5.C%
Net income 7.€% 8.6% 6.S% 8.2% 7.2%
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Revenues

We derive substantially all of our revenues fronmntinly subscription fees and recognize subscriptaM@nues ratably over each
subscriber’s monthly subscription period. We cutlsegenerate substantially all of our revenuesim Wnited States.

In the Domestic segment, we derive revenues frawicgs consisting of streaming content and DVDsriajl. In July 2011, in the
United States, we announced certain changes tplanrofferings and price structure. As part of éhelsanges, we introduced subscription
plans that include only DVDs by mail and made itessary for subscribers who opt to receive both B¥Bd streaming to have two separate
subscription plans. Our unlimited streaming plaprised at $7.99 per month in the United State® fiifice per plan for DVDs by mail varies
based on the number of DVDs that a subscriber rasg but at any given point. Customers electing st® high definition Blu-ray discs in
addition to standard definition DVDs pay a surclearanging from $1 to $4 per month for our most papplans.

In the International segment, we derive revenuas fservices consisting solely of streaming contenteptember 2010, we began
international operations in Canada and in Septe2bet, we expanded this offering to Latin America ¢ghe Caribbean. We recently
announced plans to launch our service in the UKIegldnd starting in Q1 of 2012. After launchingtive UK and Ireland, we will pause on
opening new international markets.

As a result of the changes to our pricing and ptamcture, we no longer offer a hybrid DVD and aitning plan and subscribers who
wish to receive DVDs by mail and watch streamingteat must elect both a DVD subscription plan aistreaming subscription plan.
Accordingly, beginning with the third quarter of22) management reviews the number of subscriptisribe key driver of revenues. Our |
subscriber metrics shown below reflect these change

The following table presents our subscription pteormation as of September 30, 2011 (in thousands)

Subscriptions:

Paid domestic streamir 20,51
Ending domestic streamir 21,44¢
Paid domestic DVL 13,81:
Ending domestic DVL 13,92¢
Paid international streamir 98¢
Ending international streamir 1,48(
As of/ Three Months Ended
September 3C September 3C
June 30,
2011 2011 2010

(in thousands)
Subscribers:
Domestic hybrid streaming and DVD by m:

Net additions (19¢) 1,79¢

Ending subscribet 18,85¢ 16,80(
Domestic streaming onl:

Net additions 1,99: —

Ending subscribetr 5,73¢ —
Total domestic unique subscribe

Net additions (80%) 1,79i 1,79¢

Ending subscribet 23,78¢ 24,59« 16,80(
International streaming

Net additions 513 164 13z

Ending subscribet 1,48(C 967 13z
Total unique subscriber
Net additions (292) 1,961 1,93
Paid subscriber 23,83: 24,12( 15,86
Ending subscribet 25,26¢ 25,56 16,93:
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Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2010 Q3'10

(in thousands, except percentages and average
monthly revenue per paying subscriber)

Revenue! $ 821,83 $ 553,21¢ 48.€%
Domestic 799,15: 553,21¢ 44.5%
International 22,681 — 100%

Other domestic dat:

Average number of paying subscrib 23,05 15,22( 51.5%

Average monthly revenue per paying subscr $ 11.5¢ $ 1212 (4.6%

The $268.6 million increase in our consolidatecereies was primarily a result of the 51.5% growtthendomestic average number of
paying subscribers. This increase was partiallgatfby a 4.6% decline in the domestic average nhorglienue per paying subscriber to
$11.56, resulting from the continued growth of lmwer priced subscription plans. During the quaeteded September 30, 2011, 83.6% of
our new gross domestic subscribers had chosenlamited streaming subscription plan, which is pda $7.99 per month. We had no
subscribers with the unlimited streaming subsaipplan during the quarter ended September 30,,2&1® was not introduced domestically

until November 2010.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD'10

(in thousands, except percentages and average
monthly revenue per paying subscriber)

Revenue! $2,329,00; $1,566,70. 48.7%
Domestic 2,275,141 1,566,70. 45.2%
International 53,86: — 100%

Other domestic dat:

Average number of paying subscrib 21,68t 14,02¢ 54.€%

Average monthly revenue per paying subscr $ 11.6¢ $ 12.41 (6.0)%

The $762.3 million increase in our consolidatecereies was primarily a result of the 54.6% growtthendomestic average number of
paying subscribers. This increase was partiallgatfby a 6.0% decline in the domestic average nhorglienue per paying subscriber to
$11.66, resulting from the continued growth of lmwer priced subscription plans.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
Q3’11 vs.
September 30 June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11

(in thousands, except percentages and average
monthly revenue per paying subscriber)

Revenue: $ 821,83 $788,61( 4.2%
Domestic 799,15:. 769,71 3.8%
International 22,68’ 18,89¢ 20.1%

Other domestic dat:

Average number of paying subscrib 23,05: 22,33¢ 3.2%

Average monthly revenue per paying subscr $ 11.5¢ $ 11.4¢ 0.€%

The $33.2 million increase in our consolidated reses was primarily a result of the 3.2% growthhia iomestic average number of
paying subscribers.

We expect the streaming subscription plans offbat domestically and internationally to continaggtow as a percentage of our total
subscriber base. We expect that as a result ofthhease in subscriber cancellations and migraifasur subscribers towards streaming

subscription plans and lower priced DVD subscripiitens, offset by increases in international rexesn consolidated revenue will be
relatively flat until we can achieve positive nabscriber additions.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of Subscription
Cost of subscription revenues consists of expertated to the acquisition and licensing of contastwell as content delivery co



related to providing streaming content and shipfwis to subscribers. Costs related to free-tralqals are allocated to marketing
expenses.
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Content acquisition and licensing expenses copsisiarily of amortization of streaming content lises, which may or may not be
recognized in the streaming content library, areation of DVD content library and revenue sharirgenses. We obtain content through
streaming content license agreements, DVD direathases and DVD and streaming revenue sharingragree with studios, distributors
and other suppliers. Content agreements are matie wrdinary course of business and our busisasstisubstantially dependent on any
particular agreement.

Content delivery expenses consist of the postages ¢0 mail DVDs to and from our paying subscrib#re packaging and label costs
for the mailers and all costs associated with stieg content over the Internet. We utilize thirdtgacontent delivery networks to help us
efficiently stream content in high volume to oubscribers over the Internet.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2010 Q3’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of subscriptiol $ 471,82 $ 292,40t 61.4%
As a percentage of revent 57.4% 52.%

The $179.4 million increase in cost of subscriptiemenues was primarily due to a $191.8 milliorréase in content acquisition and
licensing expenses mostly attributable to new stieg content licenses.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of subscriptiol $1,277,01: $ 817,35 56.2%
As a percentage of revent 54.&% 52.2%

The $459.7 million increase in cost of subscriptiemenues was primarily due to a $465.4 milliorréase in content acquisition and
licensing expenses mostly attributable to new stieg content licenses.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3’11 vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2’11
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of subscriptiol $ 471,82 $428,20: 10.2%
As a percentage of revent 57.4&% 54.2%

The $43.6 million increase in cost of subscriptiemenues was primarily due to a $52.1 million imsein content acquisition and
licensing expenses mostly attributable to new stieg content licenses.

We expect to continue to make substantial investsnierour streaming content library and expect dpento increase significantly in
future periods.

Fulfillment Expenses

Fulfillment expenses represent those expensesrettim content processing including operating aatfing our shipping centers as w
as receiving, encoding, inspecting and warehousimgontent library. Fulfillment expenses also irte operating and staffing our customer
service centers and credit card fees.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3'11vs
2011 2010 3'10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Fulfillment expense $ 64,79 $ 52,06 24.5%

As a percentage of revent 7.% 9.4%



The $12.7 million increase in fulfillment expenseas primarily due to a $9.0 million increase inditeard fees as a result of the 48.6%
growth in revenues.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD’10
(in thousands except percentages)
Fulfillment expense $ 187,72 $ 149,21: 25.8%
As a percentage of revent 8.1% 9.5%
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The $38.5 million increase in fulfillment expensess due to the following:
» Credit card fees increased $27.9 million as a teduhe 48.7% growth in revenues; ¢

» Content processing and customer service relateeinses increased $10.6 million primarily due to 4. 8illion increase in costs
associated with customer service call centerseblfg a decrease of $4.5 million in hub operatixmeases

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3’11 vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11
(in thousands, except percentages)
Fulfillment expense $ 64,79 $61,77¢ 4.8%
As a percentage of revent 7.5% 7.8%

The $3.0 million increase in fulfillment expenseasaprimarily due to a $4.7 million increase in sastsociated with customer service
call centers.

Technology and Devel opment

Technology and development expenses consist objpayrd related costs incurred in making improvetaga our service offering,
including testing, maintaining and modifying oueuterface, our recommendation and merchandisidignology, as well as,
telecommunications systems and infrastructure dimer anternal-use software systems. Technologydawelopment expenses also include
costs associated with computer hardware and saftwar

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2010 Q3’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Technology and developme $ 69,48( $ 42,10¢ 65.(%
As a percentage of revent 8.5% 7.€%

The $27.4 million increase in technology and depelent expenses was primarily the result of a $28liBon increase in personnel-
related costs. This increase in personnel-relatetbds due to a 63% growth in average headcomtosting continued improvements in our
streaming service and our international expansouplked with a $4.8 million increase in stooised compensation expense resulting fron
growth in average headcount.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD'10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Technology and developme $ 178,25( $ 117,37 51.€%
As a percentage of revent 7.7% 7.5%

The $60.9 million increase in technology and depelent expenses was primarily attributable to aZ&#llion increase in personnel-
related costs. These increases are due to the dW®thgin average headcount supporting continueddrgments in our streaming service
and our international expansion coupled with a $h2illion increase in stock-based compensation espeesulting from the growth in
average headcount.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3'11vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11
(in thousands, except percentages)
Technology and developme $ 69,48( $57,86¢ 20.1%
As a percentage of revent 8.5% 7.3%

The $11.6 million increase in technology and depelent expenses was primarily the result of a $7lfomincrease in personnel-
related costs. This increase in perso-related costs is primarily due to a 19% growthvarage headcount supporting contin



improvements to our streaming service and ourm@tional expansion.
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Marketing

Marketing expenses consist primarily of advertisixgenses and also include payments made to dlimte#f and consumer electronics
partners and payroll related expenses. Advertiskpenses include promotional activities such &visibn and online advertising as well as
allocated costs of revenues relating to free piéalods. Payments to our affiliates and consurreamtednics partners may be in the form of a
fixed-fee or may be a revenue sharing payment.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2010 Q3'10

(in thousands, except percentages and subscriber
acquisition cost)

Marketing $ 89,10¢ $ 81,23¢ 9.7%
As a percentage of revent 10.8% 14.1%

Other domestic dat:

Gross subscriber additio 4,714 3,96¢ 18.€%
Subscriber acquisition ca $ 15.2¢ $ 20.0¢ (23.9%
Churn (1) 6.2% 3.8% 65.£%

(1) Churn is a monthly measure defined as custaawecellations in the quarter divided by the surbeaginning subscribers and gross
subscriber additions, then divided by three mor

Following the announcement of changes to our pfferings, pricing and branding in the third quaé2011, we experienced
significant customer cancellations with churn imgiag to 6.3% for the third quarter of 2011 as carag to 4.2% in the second quarter
of 2011, and 3.8% in the third quarter of 2010.

The $7.9 million increase in marketing expenses pvasarily attributable to a $14.7 million increasemarketing program spending
attributable to increased spending in televisiadja and online advertising primarily due to owrlah in Latin America and the Caribbean,
coupled with an increase in payments to our aféiaand consumer electronic partners. These iresaeare offset by a decrease in direct
mail. In addition, cost of free trials decreasedl$8illion due to a 74% decrease in free shipmastthe majority of our new domestic
subscribers receiving free trials have chosen fitieited streaming plan. Domestic subscriber adtjoiscost decreased primarily due to
organic growth in gross subscriber additions.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD’ 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD’10

(in thousands, except percentages and subscriber
acquisition cost)

Marketing $ 288,35l $ 230,99( 24.8%
As a percentage of revent 12.2% 14.%

Other domestic dat:

Gross subscriber additio 16,32¢ 10,51¢ 55.2%
Subscriber acquisition co $  14.8¢ $  21.7¢ (31L.%
Churn 4.8% 3.9% 23.1%

The $57.4 million increase in marketing expenses pramarily attributable to a $64.0 million increas marketing program spending,
primarily from increased spending in televisiordicaand online advertising, coupled with an incesispayments to our affiliates. These
increases were offset by a decrease in paymeotmgumer electronic partners as well as a decieagending for direct mail and inserts. In
addition, cost of free trials decreased by $11ianidue to a 34% decrease in free shipmentseasiority of our new domestic subscribers
receiving free trials have chosen the unlimitedatning plan. Domestic subscriber acquisition cestehsed primarily due to organic growth
in gross subscriber additions.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 30 Q3’11 vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11

(in thousands, except percentages and subscriber
acquisition cost)

Marketing $ 89,10¢ $94,98: (6.2)%
As a percentage of revent 10.8% 12.(%

Other domestic dat:

Gross subscriber additio 4,71¢ 5,31¢ (11.9%



Subscriber acquisition co $ 15.2¢ $ 15.0¢ 1.1%
Churn 6.2% 4.2% 50.(%
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The $5.9 million decrease in marketing expensespsiasarily due to a $5.0 million decrease in mairkgprogram spending primarily
due to a decrease in television spending and dinadt In addition, cost of free trials decreasgdb@.2 million due to a 53% decrease in free
shipments as the majority of our new domestic Sitbsis receiving free trials have chosen the unéthstreaming plan.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist offlaymd related expenses for executive and admatigé personnel, as well as

recruiting, professional fees and other genergl@@te expenses. General and administrative expeatse include the gain on disposal of
DVDs.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2010 Q3’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrati $ 29,79: $ 15,90: 87.2%
As a percentage of revent 3.€% 2.8%

The $13.9 million increase in general and admiafste expenses was primarily attributable to a $8il8on increase in personnel-
related costs, due to a $2.9 million increaseadslsbased compensation expense and a 49% increaserage headcount.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD’ 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrati $ 83,46( $ 46,59 79.1%
As a percentage of revent 3.5% 3.%

The $36.9 million increase in general and admiatste expenses was primarily attributable to a $2illion increase in personnel-
related costs, due to an $8.2 million increaseadnksbased compensation expense and a 31% indreaserage headcount. In addition, legal
expenses increased $7.1 million due to an incrieasests associated with various claims against us.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3'11vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrati $ 29,79 $30,67( (2.9%
As a percentage of revent 3.6% 4.C%

General and administrative expenses were relatilelyas compared to the prior period.

Income Taxes
Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3'11vs
2011 2010 Q3’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxe $ 31,16 $ 27,44 13.6%
Effective tax rate 33.2% 42.(%

Our effective tax rate for the third quarter of 20fas 33.3% and differed from the federal statutatg due primarily to the expiration
of a statute of limitations for years 1997 thro@§l07 resulting in a discrete benefit of $3.5 millithe Federal and California R&D tax cre:
and state taxes. The decrease in our effectiveatexwas also attributable to the reinstatemethi@federal R&D credit in December 2010
not reflected in the three months ended Septenthe2®L0 and a lower effective tax rate for Califarn
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Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2010 YTD’10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxe $ 111,78 $ 79,37¢ 40.£%
Effective tax rate 36.9% 41.1%

Our effective tax rate for the nine months endept&aber 30, 2011 was 36.9% and differed from tder@ statutory rate due primar
to the expiration of a statute of limitations faays 1997 through 2007 resulting in a discrete fitesfeb3.5 million, the Federal and Califorr
R&D tax credits and state taxes. The decreaserieffective tax rate was also attributable to thiestatement of the Federal R&D credit in
December 2010 not reflected in the nine months ésptember 30, 2010 and a lower effective taxfoat€alifornia.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3'11vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2'11
(in thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxe $ 31,16 $42,61( (26.9%
Effective tax rate 33.2% 38.4%

Our effective tax rate for the three months endegk&nber 30, 2011 as compared to the three monttesieJune 30, 2011 was prima
attributable to the expiration of a statute of taions for years 1997 through 2007, resulting disarete benefit of $3.5 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary source of liquidity has been cash gateel from operations. Additionally, in November 20@e issued $200 million of ol
8.50% senior notes due in 2017. The debt consig2@0.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8&6enior notes due November 15, 2017
(the “Notes”). Interest on the Notes is payableisgnmually at a rate of 8.50% per annum on May rid ldovember 15 of each year,
commencing on May 15, 2010. (See “Note 4 Long-tBebt” to our condensed consolidated financial stetets for additional information.)

Our primary uses of cash include the acquisitioth laoensing of content, content delivery expensearketing, our stock repurchase
programs, payroll related expenses, and capitaredifures related to information technology andmation equipment. We expect to
continue to make significant investments to licestseaming content both domestically and intermatlily. These investments could impact
our liquidity and in particular our operating cdkiws.

As a result of the significant increase in subsaritancellations resulting in flat consolidatederave, coupled with increased
investments in our International segment, and fertrational content in particular, we expect coitlstéd net losses and negative operating
cash flows in future periods. Although we currerhtticipate that our available funds will be suéitt to meet our cash needs for the
foreseeable future, we may require or choose taimlatdditional financing. Our ability to obtain atilchal financing will depend on, among
other things, our development efforts, busineseglaperating performance, current and projectetbtiance with our debt covenants, and
the condition of the capital markets at the timeseek financing. We may not be able to obtain singimcing on terms acceptable to us or at
all. If we raise additional funds through the isstmof equity, equity-linked or debt securitiegygh securities may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to the rights of our common stakd our stockholders may experience dilution.

On June 11, 2010, we announced that our Boardretciirs authorized a stock repurchase program ailtpus to repurchase $300
million of our common stock through the end of 20A2 of September 30, 2011, $41.0 million of thisherization was remaining. The
timing and actual number of shares repurchasedttsei discretion of management and will dependarious factors, including price,
corporate and regulatory requirements, debt coueregunirements, alternative investment opportugiied other market conditions. As we
expect to have negative operating cash flows aréuperiods, we do not expect to make further stepkirchases for the foreseeable future.

Cash Flow
Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010
Three Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C Q3’11 vs
2011 2011 Q3'10
(in thousands, except percentages)

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 49,53 $ 42,22° 17.5%
Net cash used in investing activit| (41,587 (5,606 641.7%
Net cash used in financing activiti (23,959 (30,840 (22.9%

Cash provided by operating activities increase@® #illion or 17.3%, primarily due to an increasecash received from subscribers



subscription fees of $272.9 million or 48.5%, pllyi offset by increased payments for streamingeoinacquisition and licensing of
$216.3 million or 132.6%. Operating cash flows wiemther impacted by increased payroll expense&3@f3 million, increased credit card
fees of $9.0 million, a $4.6 million increase irnyp®ents for advertising and affiliates transactiand a $4.4 million increase in other opera
expenses.
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Cash used in investing activities increased $36lgomprimarily due to a $34.7 million increase prchases, net of proceeds, of short-
term investments. In addition, purchases of prgpentd equipment increased $6.7 million primarilyeda purchases of software licenses.
These increases in cash outflows were partiallyedfby a $9.1 million decrease in acquisition offlbtbntent library, as more DVDs were
obtained through revenue sharing agreements asazechfp the same prior year period.

Cash used in financing activities decreased by 86ll#n primarily due to a $17.8 million decreaserepurchases of common stock.
This decrease in cash used was partially offset $§.5 million decrease in proceeds from the issei@f common stock related to option
exercises, and a decrease of $4.3 million in tleegxtax benefits from stock-based compensation.

Nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010

Nine Months Ended Change
September 3C September 3C YTD' 11 vs
2011 2011 YTD'10
(in thousands, except percentages)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 252,24t $ 179,68« 40.4%
Net cash used in investing activiti (150,209 (57,899 159.4%
Net cash used in financing activiti (137,34) (142,90 (3.9%

Cash provided by operating activities increased&#dllion or 40.4%, primarily due to an increasecash received from subscribers
subscription fees of $793.2 million or 50.5%, i offset by increased payments for streamingeonacquisition and licensing of $544.0
million or 149.7%. Operating cash flows were furthepacted by increased payroll expenses of $68libm a $41.5 million increase in
payments for advertising and affiliates transaajoncreased credit card fees of $27.9 million ai%10.6 million increase in excess tax
benefits from stock-based compensation. Contentatglexpenses increased $10.1 million, paymentedoipment and software
maintenance increased by $9.1 million and otheraijpgy expenses increased by $9.4 million.

Cash used in investing activities increased $92l8mprimarily due to a $92.8 million increase purchases, net of proceeds, of short-
term investments. In addition, purchases of prgpant equipment increased $19.6 million due to lpases of automation equipment for our
various shipping centers, as well as purchasesfofare licenses. These increases in cash outflesve partially offset by a $29.0 million

decrease in acquisitions of DVD content libraryreme DVDs were obtained through revenue sharingeagents as compared to the same
prior year period.

Cash used in financing activities decreased by 8Bllén primarily due to a $10.6 million decreaserepurchases of common stock,
and a $10.6 million increase in the excess taxfitsrfeom stock-based compensation. This was prtidfset by a $15.4 million decrease in
proceeds from the issuance of common stock retategtion exercises.

Three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011

Three Months Ended Change
September 3C Q3'11vs
June 30,
2011 2011 Q2111
(in thousands, except percentages)

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 49,53 $ 86,39: (42.7%
Net cash used in investing activiti (41,58) (34,949 19.(%
Net cash used in financing activiti (23,959 (26,65%) (10.)%

Cash provided by operating activities decreased%3lion or 42.7%, primarily due to increased p@nts for streaming content
acquisition and licensing of $87.2 million or 29.9@4rtially offset by a $43.3 million or 5.5% ines® in cash received from subscribers for
subscription fees. Operating cash flows were furifn@acted by increased payroll expenses of $11llbm an increase of $7.3 million in
content delivery expenses, and a $6.4 million iaseein taxes paid during the quarter, as well%k5a3 million decrease in payments for
advertising and affiliate transactions, an $8.9iarnldecrease on interest paid on our Notes, ampats are made in May and November, and
an $8.1 million decrease in other operating expgnse

Cash used in investing activities increased $6lbamiprimarily due to a $5.5 million increase imetpurchases of property and
equipment due to purchases of software.
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Cash used in financing activities decreased by 8#llibn primarily due to an $11.8 million decreasaepurchases of common stock.
This decrease in cash used was partially offset $§.1 million decrease in the excess tax berfedits stock-based compensation and a $3.0
million decrease in proceeds from the issuancewofroon stock related to option exercises.

Free Cash Flow

We define free cash flow as cash provided by opgraind investing activities excluding the noperational cash flows from purchas
maturities and sales of short-term investmentsbdlieve free cash flow is an important liquidity tniebecause it measures, during a given
period, the amount of cash generated that is dfaita repay debt obligations, make investmenfsjnehase our stock, and for certain other
activities. Free cash flow is considered a non-GAisBncial measure and should not be consideréblation of, or as a substitute for, net
income, operating income, cash flow from operatintivities, or any other measure of financial parfance or liquidity presented in
accordance with GAAP. The following table recongiteet cash provided by operating activities, a GAiABncial measure, to free cash flow,
a non-GAAP financial measure:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C
June 30,
2011 2011 2010 2011 2010
Non-GAAP free cash flow reconciliation:

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 49,53 $ 86,39: $ 42,22 $ 252,24t $ 179,68
Acquisition of DVD content libran (20,826 (29,065 (29,900 (62,010 (90,999
Purchases of property and equipm (14,080 (8,626 (7,342 (39,026 (19,406
Other asset (844) 844 2,782 1,41¢ 10,28¢
Non-GAAP free cash flow $ 13,78: $ 59,54¢ $ 7,767 $ 152,62 $ 79,57«

In comparing free cash flow to net income, the megaurring differences are excess streaming and P&yments over expenses,
stock-based compensation expense, deferred reviaxas,and semi-annual interest payments on thesNBecause consumers use credit
cards to buy from us, our receivables from custersettle quickly and deferred revenue is a soufrcagh flow. For streaming content, we
typically enter into multi-year licenses with stasliand other distributors that may result in amgase in content library and a corresponding
increase in liabilities in the consolidated balasbeet. The payment terms for these license fegseriand over the term of the license
agreement, which typically range from six month$§ive years. License fee obligations with paymenirts that are due beyond one year are
classified on the consolidated balance sheets ggt@on-current liabilities.” Minimum commitmerftr licenses and known titles that do
not meet the criteria for asset recognition indbetent library are included in Note 9 to the cdidsted financial statements.

Free cash flow for the three months ended SepteBthet011 as compared to September 30, 2010 ireate¢kG0 million primarily due
to increased net income of $24.5 million, increadefitrred revenue of $12.4 million and increasedksbased compensation expense of $8.4
million. This was partially offset by an increaseeixcess streaming and DVD content payments oyereses of $15.4 million, a $6.5 million
increase in excess property and equipment paymertsexpenses of $6.5 million and increased tavartgpof $3.0 million. Payments for
content increased $207.2 million while content erges increased $191.8 million.

Free cash flow for the nine months ended SepteBMe2011 as compared to September 30, 2010 inct&¥&1 million primarily due
to increased net income of $77.2 million, increasedk-based compensation expense of $23.8 millieareased tax impacts of $15.7
million, and increased deferred revenue of $3018ani This was partially offset by an increaseektess streaming and DVD content
payments over expenses of $49.6 million. Paymemtedntent increased $515.0 million while contergenses increased $465.4 million.

Free cash flow for the three months ended SepteBhe2011 as compared to June 30, 2011 decreased! ipdlion primarily due to an
increase in excess streaming and DVD content patmoeer expenses of $36.9 million. Payments fotemnincreased $89.0 million while
content expenses increased $52.1 million.

As a result of the significant increase in subgaritancellations resulting in flat domestic reveramipled with increased investment in
our International segment and in particular infing&ional content, we expect consolidated net basel negative free cash flows in future
periods.

Effect of Exchange Rates

Revenues in our International segment, as welbawesf the related expenses incurred in the Intiemal segment, are denominated in
the local currency. During the three and nine merthded September 30, 2011 and 2010, the gainssed on foreign exchange transactions
and the effect of exchange rate changes on casbaahdequivalents were immaterial.
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Contractual Obligations

For the purposes of this table, contractual ohiliget for purchases of goods or services are defiseajreements that are enforceable
and legally binding and that specify all signifita@rms, including: fixed or minimum quantitiestie purchased; fixed, minimum or variable
price provisions; and the approximate timing of ttamsaction. The expected timing of payment ofabkgations discussed above is
estimated based on information available to us & ptember 30, 2011. Timing of payments and actmadunts paid may be different
depending on the time of receipt of goods or ses/mr changes to agreed-upon amounts for someatiblig. The following table
summarizes our contractual obligations at Septerdde2011:

Payments due by Period

Less than More than
Contractual obligations (in thousands): Total 1year (3) 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
8.50% senior notes $ 310,50 $ 17,00 $ 34,000 $ 34,000 $225,50(
Operating lease obligatiol 58,00¢ 16,24: 25,42 13,26¢ 3,07¢
Lease financing obligations ( 20,31: 4,17¢ 6,32¢ 5,88¢ 3,92:
Streaming content obligations ( 3,458,86: 740,80( 2,136,85: 535,70¢ 45,50:
Other purchase obligatiol 269,00: 159,26 99,42¢ 9,372 937
Total $4,116,68. $937,48! $2,302,02! $598,23. $278,93

(1) Represents the lease financing obligations fol@srGatos, California headquarte

(2) Streaming content obligations include agreemenacquire and license streaming content thaesept long-term liabilities or that are
not reflected on the consolidated balance sheetshBse agreements with variable terms, we de@sidinate what the total obligation
may be beyond any minimum quantities and/ or pgies of the reporting date. For those agreemeatsrtblude renewal provisions tl
are solely at the option of the content provideg,imclude the commitments associated with the rahperiod to the extent such
commitments are fixed or a minimum amount is spedifFor these reasons, the amounts presented talife may not provide a
reliable indicator of our expected future cash lowts.
We have entered into certain license agreementsnitiade an unspecified or a maximum number &ddithat we may or may not
receive in the future and/or that include pricimgitingent upon certain variables, such as theidaibition receipts for the title. As of
the reporting date, it is unknown whether we walteive access to these titles or what the ultippase per title will be. Accordingly
such amounts are not reflected in the above cdntthobligations table. However, such amounts apeeted to be significant and the
expected timing of payments for these commitmeotdccrange from less than one year to more thanyears.

(3) For purposes of this table, less than one year doeisiclude liabilities which are reflected on tmnsolidated balance shee

As of September 30, 2011, we had gross unrecogtézeienefits of $26.3 million and an additional&thnillion for gross interest and
penalties classified as “Other non-current lialeitit in the consolidated balance sheet. At thitime are not able to make a reasonably
reliable estimate of the timing of payments in indiial years due to uncertainties in the timingeof audit outcomes; therefore, such amounts
are not included in the above contractual obligatable.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do not engagensactions that generate relationships wittonsalidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred girastured finance or special purpose entitiesofdingly, our operating results, financial
condition and cash flows are not subject to offabak sheet risks.

Indemnification

The information set forth under Note 9 in the ndtethe consolidated financial statements undecépdion “Indemnification” is
incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyakccepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assas et affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities, disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finarstialements, and the reported amounts of revemaksxgpenses during the reported periods.
SEC has defined a company’s critical accountingcpms as the ones that are most important to tiegyal of a company’s financial
condition and results of operations, and which @@ company to make its most difficult and sutiyecjudgments. Based on this definition,
we have identified the critical accounting policaasl judgments addressed below. We base our esirnathistorical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to bgsoreble under the circumstances. Actual resultsdiffer from these estimates.

Content Accounting
We obtain content through streaming content licemgeements, DVD direct purchases and DVD andrsirgarevenue sharing
agreements with studios, distributors and othepkens.

We obtain content distribution rights in order teeam TV shows and movies to subscribers’ TVs, aaens and mobile devices.
Streaming content is generally licensed for a i-fee for the term of the license agreement which heaye multiple windows of availabilit



The license agreement may or may not be recogiizeshtent library.
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When the streaming license fee is known or readgrierminable for a specific title and the spieditle is first available for
streaming to subscribers, the title is recognizethe consolidated balance sheets as current dditieary for the portion available for
streaming within one year and as non-current catitaary for the remaining portion. New titles ogmized in the content library are
classified in the line item “Additions to streamiagntent library” within net cash provided by oparg activities in the consolidated
statements of cash flows. We amortize the conierarly on a straight-line basis over each title@stcactual window of availability, which
typically ranges from six months to five years. Hmeortization is classified in “Cost of revenues—bS&ueription” in the consolidated
statements of operations and in the line item “Atmation of streaming content library” within nedsh provided by operating activities in the
consolidated statements of cash flows. Paymenttéonthese license fees may extend over the tétitedicense agreement, which could
range from six months to five years. For the titlesognized in content library, the license fees dut not paid are classified on the
consolidated balance sheets as “Accounts payabtehé& amounts due within one year and as “Otherauorent liabilities” for the amounts
due beyond one year. Changes in these liabiliteslassified in the line item “Change in streambogtent liabilities” within net cash
provided by operating activities in the consolides¢éatement of cash flows. We record the streamamgent library assets and their related
liability on our consolidated balance sheet atghwss amount of the liability. Payments for theesitnot yet available for streaming are not yet
recognized in the content library but in prepaidteat. Minimum commitments for the titles not yea#able for streaming are not yet
recognized in the content library and are incluieote 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

When the streaming license fee is not known oraralsly determinable for a specific title, the tilees not meet the criteria for asset
recognition in the content library. Titles do notet the criteria for asset recognition in the conlidrary because the underlying license
agreement does not specify the number of titleh@ticense fee per title or the windows of avaligbper title, so that the license fee is not
known or reasonably determinable for a specifie.tifypical payment terms for these agreementschwtén range from three to five years,
require us to make equal fixed payments at thenoégg of each quarter of the license term. To thierd that cumulative payments exceed
cumulative amortization, prepaid content is recdrde the consolidated balance sheets. We amontizkcense fees on a straight-line basis
over the term of each license agreement. The amatidh is classified in “Cost of revenues—Subsaiptin the consolidated statements of
operations and in the line item “Net income” withiet cash provided by operating activities in thesolidated statements of cash flows.
Changes in prepaid content are classified withircaseh provided by operating activities in the litgen “Prepaid content” in the consolidated
statements of cash flows. Commitments for licertisasdo not meet the criteria for asset recogniiiotine content library are included in N
9 to the consolidated financial statements.

We acquire DVD content for the purpose of rentinghscontent to our subscribers and earning suligmripental revenues, and, as
such, we consider our direct purchase DVD librarpé a productive asset. Accordingly, we classifiy@VD library as a norcurrent asset ¢
the consolidated balance sheets. The acquisiti@V@¥ content library, net of changes in relatedbilities, is classified in the line item
“Acquisition of DVD content library” within cash edl in investing activities in the consolidated eia¢nts of cash flows because the DVD
content library is considered a productive asst#tefOcompanies in the in-home entertainment videastry classify these cash flows as
operating activities. We amortize our direct pusgh®VDs, less estimated salvage value, on a “suthesfonths” accelerated basis over
their estimated useful lives. The useful life of thew release DVDs and back-catalog DVDs is estichtat be one year and three years,
respectively. In estimating the useful life of @VDs, we consider historical utilization patterpsimarily the number of times a DVD title is
shipped to subscribers in a given period, as veetiraestimate for lost or damaged DVDs. The anaditia of the DVD content library is
classified in “Cost of revenues—Subscription” il tonsolidated statement of operations and initledtem “Amortization of DVD content
library” within net cash provided by operating aites in the consolidated statements of cash flows

We also obtain DVD and streaming content througlemee sharing agreements with studios and distibuRevenue sharing
obligations incurred based on utilization are dgfées$in “Cost of revenues—Subscription” in the solidated statements of operations and in
the line item “Net income” within net cash providey operating activities in the consolidated staeta of cash flows. The terms of some
revenue sharing agreements obligate us to make mitial payment for certain titles, representagninimum contractual obligation under
the agreement. The low initial payment is in exgfefor a commitment to share a percentage of dagcsiption revenues or to pay a fee,
based on utilization, for a defined period of tirmethe title term, which typically ranges from sixtwelve months for each title. The initial
payment may be in the form of an upfront non-realsid payment. This payment is capitalized in theeat library in accordance with our
DVD and streaming content policies as applicable ihitial payment may also be in the form of apagment of future revenue sharing
obligations which is classified as prepaid cont&his payment is amortized as revenue sharing atidigs are incurred. Under the revenue
sharing agreements for our DVD library, at the efithe title term, we generally have the optionaifirning the DVDs to the studio,
destroying the DVDs or purchasing the DVDs. In nuzstes, we purchase the DVDs when we have théyabildo so. This end of term buy-
out is also included in DVD library at the timepafrchase.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense at the granisdadsed on the total number of options grantedaaneistimate of the fair value of
the awards expected to vest and is recognizedmesg ratably over the requisite service periodchwis the vesting period.

We calculate the fair value of new stock-based @msption awards under our stock option plans wsilagtice-binomial model. This
model requires the input of highly subjective asgtiams, including price volatility of the underlygrstock. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the estimataiofalue of options granted and our results ofrafiens could be impacted.
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»  Expected Volatility: Our computation of expected volatility is basedadniend of historical volatility of our common skoand
implied volatility of tradable forward call optioris purchase shares of our common stock. Our aectsiincorporate implied
volatility was based on our assessment that impladdtility of publicly traded options in our commatock is more reflective of
market conditions and, therefore, can reasonablxpected to be a better indicator of expectedtiitfahan historical volatility
of our common stock. We include the historical titity in our computation due to low trade volumour tradable forward call
options in certain periods thereby precluding sel@nce on implied volatility. An increase of 10four computation of expect:
volatility would increase the total stc-based compensation expense by approximately $0li6rm

»  Suboptimal Exercise Factor: Our computation of the suboptimal exercise facddydsed on historical option exercise behavior anc
the terms and vesting periods of the options gohatel is determined for both executives and norwgkees. An increase in the
suboptimal exercise factor of 10% would increasettial stoc-based compensation expense by approximately $0ibm

Income Taxes

We record a provision for income taxes for the@péited tax consequences of our reported resutip@rfations using the asset and
liability method. Deferred income taxes are recagdiby applying enacted statutory tax rates tedifices between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitied their respective tax bases, as well as neatipg loss and tax credit carryforwards. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ohange in tax rates is recognized in income irpéréod that includes the enactment date. The
measurement of deferred tax assets is reduceécéssary, by a valuation allowance for any tax fitsrfer which future realization is
uncertain.

Although we believe our assumptions, judgmentsestitnates are reasonable, changes in tax laws antegpretation of tax laws and
the resolution of any tax audits could significgnthpact the amounts provided for income taxesuinamnsolidated financial statements.

In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred aissets, in full or in part, we consider all &alale positive and negative evidence,
including our past operating results, and our fastof future earnings, future taxable income andignt and feasible tax planning strategies.
The assumptions utilized in determining future td&ancome require significant judgment and arescgiant with the plans and estimates we
are using to manage the underlying businessesalaperating results in future years could diff@nfi our current assumptions, judgments
and estimates. However, we believe that it is nlikedy than not that substantially all deferred &ssets recorded on our balance sheet will
ultimately be realized. In the event we were tedeuine that we would not be able to realize afbant of our net deferred tax assets in the
future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assetddime charged to earnings in the period in whiehmake such determination.

We did not recognize certain tax benefits from utaie tax positions within the provision for incortexes. We may recognize a tax
benefit only if it is more likely than not the tawsition will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognizethe financial statements from such positioresstaen measured based on the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoodedfd realized upon settlement. At September 301 20dr estimated gross unrecognized tax
benefits were $26.3 million of which $21.0 milliahrecognized, would favorably impact our futu@®ings. Due to uncertainties in any tax
audit outcome, our estimates of the ultimate sattlgt of our unrecognized tax positions may chamgktiae actual tax benefits may differ
significantly from the estimates. See Note 8 todbesolidated financial statements for further infation regarding income taxes.

ltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For financial market risks related to changes tarigst rates, reference is made to Item 7A “Quatnté and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk” contained in Part Il of our AreduReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decer3the2010. Our exposure to market
risk has not changed significantly since Decemiie2810.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &wated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definediiedRl3a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securitiebdhge Act of 1934, as amended) as of
the end of the period covered by this Quarterlydrepn Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, oueCEkecutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosureteools and procedures as of the end of the periwdrea by this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q were effective in providing reasonable assurdinatinformation required to be disclosed by ueejports that we file or submit under
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, ie¢)rded, processed, summarized and reportedwithitime periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules ands@ma (ii) accumulated and communicated to our gpamant, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, gmeopriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will prevemteator and all fraud. A control system, no mattew well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratdttb objectives of the control system are metthen, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource conssaantd the benefits of controls must be considegiadive to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluatidrcontrols can provide absolute assurance thaballrol issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within Netflix have been detected.
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Changesin Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting that occurred during the quaeteded September 30, 2011 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under Note 9 in the ndtethe consolidated financial statements undecé#pdion “Litigation” is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes from theaisofs as previously disclosed under the headingk“Ractors” in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddman31, 2010, except for the following additiondalRFactor:

If we are unable to recover from the negative consner reaction to our price change and other announeeents made during the third
quarter of 2011, our business will be adversely atted.

In the third quarter of 2011, we made a serieabancements regarding our business, includingepearation of our unlimited DVD
by mail and unlimited streaming plans with a copaegding price change for some of our customerstegheanding of our DVD by mail
service, and the subsequent retraction of our gtansbrand our DVD by mail service. Consumers texhaegatively to these announcements,
adversely impacting our brand and resulting in bighan expected customer cancellations and andeiclinet subscriber additions. These
adverse effects, coupled with the increasingly g and fixed-cost nature of our content acgoisiticenses, will likely continue to have
an adverse impact on our results of operationselfire unable to repair the damage to our brandeardse negative subscriber growth
within our domestic segment, our results of operdj including cash flow, will be adversely affette

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds
Stock repurchases during the three months endeér8bpr 30, 2011 were as follows:

Total Number of Shares
Maximum Dollar Value

Purchased as Part of that May Yet Be Purchase
Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced

Period Shares Purchase Paid per Share Programs Under the Program (1)
July 1, 2011 — July 31,

2011 — $ — — $ 80,575,30
August 1, 2011 —

August 31, 201: 84,00( 225.7% 84,00( 61,610,46
September 1, 2011 —

September 30, 201 98,00( 210.5¢ 98,00( 40,975,33
Total 182,00( $ 217.5¢ 182,00( $ 40,975,33

(1) OnJune 11, 2010, the Company announced thBbiard of Directors authorized a stock repurclpdese that enables the Company to
repurchase up to $300.0 million of its common stiiwkugh the end of 2012. The timing and actual nemof shares repurchased will
depend on various factors including price, corpmeatd regulatory requirements, debt covenant remgints, alternative investment
opportunities and other market conditio
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ltem 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits:
Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference Herewith
Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora 16-Q 00C-49802 3.1 August 2, 200«
3.2 Amended and Restated Byla 8-K  00C-49802 3.1 March 20, 200¢
3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@rtificate of
Incorporation 16-Q 00C-49802 3.3 August 2, 200«
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certifica S-1/A 33383878 4.1 April 16, 2002
4.2 Indenture, dated November 6, 2009, among Netttig,, Ithe guaranto
from time to time party thereto and Wells Fargo Badation
Association, relating to the 8.50% Senior Notes 200i&7. 8-K  00C-49802 4.1 November 9, 200
10.1t Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into hg tegistrant with
each of its executive officers and direct S-1/A 33383878 10.1  March 20, 200:
10.2t 2002 Employee Stock Purchase F Def 14A 00(-49802 A April 8, 2010
10.3t Amended and Restated 1997 Stock | S-1/A 33383878 10.3 May 16, 200z
10.41t Amended and Restated 2002 Stock | Def 14A 00C-49802 A March 31, 200¢
10.5 Amended and Restated Stockhol’ Rights Agreemer S-1  33:-83878 10.5 March 6, 200
10.61t 2011 Stock Pla Def 14A 00C-49802 A April 20, 2011
10.81 Description of Director Equity Compensation P 8-K  00C-49802 99.1 June 16, 201
10.91 Description of Director Equity Compensation P 8-K  00C-49802 10.1 December 28, 20(
10.10° Amended and Restated Executive Severance and Retémtentive
Plan 10-Q 00C-49802 10.1C May 5, 200¢
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z X
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z X
32.1* Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z X
101 The following financial information from Netflixnic.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septedbe2011 filed
with the SEC on October 27, 2011, formatted in XBR&ludes: (i)
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the TaneeNine Months
Ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, (ii) ConsolidBtdance Sheets
as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 200G dinsolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Three and NinetMoBEnded
September 30, 2011 and 2010 and (iv) the Noteotsalidated
Financial Statement X

* These certifications are not deemed filed by $&C and are not to be incorporated by referenemyrfiling we make under the Securities
Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1984spective of any general incorporation languiagany filings.
T Indicates a management contract or compensatony

31



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NETFLIX, I NC.
Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /s| ReeDH ASTINGS
Reed Hastings
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)
Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /s/ DAvID W ELLS

David Wells
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financial and accounting officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference Herewith
Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora 16-Q 00C-49802 3.1 August 2, 200«
3.2 Amended and Restated Byla 8-K  00C-49802 3.1 March 20, 200¢
3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@rtificate of
Incorporation 16-Q 00C-49802 3.3 August 2, 200«
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certifica S-1/A 33383878 4.1 April 16, 2002
4.2 Indenture, dated November 6, 2009, among Netttig,, Ithe guaranto
from time to time party thereto and Wells Fargo Baxation
Association, relating to the 8.50% Senior Notes 200i&7. 8-K  00C-49802 4.1 November 9, 200
10.1t Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into hg tegistrant with
each of its executive officers and direct S-1/A 33383878 10.1  March 20, 200:
10.2t 2002 Employee Stock Purchase F Def 14A 00C-49802 A April 8, 2010
10.3t Amended and Restated 1997 Stock | S-1/A 33383878 10.3 May 16, 200z
10.41t Amended and Restated 2002 Stock | Def 14A 00C-49802 A March 31, 200¢
10.5 Amended and Restated Stockhol’ Rights Agreemer S-1  33:-83878 10.5 March 6, 200
10.61t 2011 Stock Pla Def 14A 00C-49802 A April 20, 2011
10.8t Description of Director Equity Compensation P 8-K  00C-49802 99.1 June 16, 201
10.91t Description of Director Equity Compensation P 8-K  00C-49802 10.1 December 28, 20(
10.10° Amended and Restated Executive Severance and Retémtentive
Plan 10-Q 00C-49802 10.1C May 5, 200¢
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 X
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 X
32.1* Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z X
101 The following financial information from Netflixnc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septed®e2011 filed
with the SEC on October 27, 2011, formatted in XBR&ludes: (i)
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the TaneeNine Months
Ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, (ii) ConsolidBs#ance Sheets
as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 200G dinsolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Three and NinetMoBEnded
September 30, 2011 and 2010 and (iv) the Notdset@bnsolidated
Financial Statement X

* These certifications are not deemed filed by $&C and are not to be incorporated by referenemyrfiling we make under the Securities
Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1984spective of any general incorporation languiagany filings.
t Indicates a management contract or compensatony
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Reed Hastings, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on FormQLOf Netflix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durithg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over faialhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrat’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /s ReEeDH ASTINGS

Reed Hastings
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Wells, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on FormQLEf Netflix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durithg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over faialhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrat’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /s/  DaviD W ELLS

David Wells
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Reed Hastings, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.GtiSa 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90B6eoSarbane®xley Act of 2002, the
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Netflix, Ifigr the quarter ended September 30, 2011 fully d@spvith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and that information contained in sugport fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapons of Netflix, Inc.

Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /s/ REEDH ASTINGS

Reed Hastings
Chief Executive Officer

I, David Wells, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sect1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 db#nbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Netflix, Ifiar the quarter ended September 30, 2011 fully d@spvith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and that information contained in sugport fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapons of Netflix, Inc.

Dated: October 27, 2011 By: /sl DAaviD WELLS

David Wells
Chief Financial Officer




